### The University of Southern Mississippi

# The Aquila Digital Community

Master's Theses

Spring 5-1-2021

# Proposed Subtypes of Anger Rumination: Brooding and Reflection and Their Associations with Aggression

Fayth Walbridge

Follow this and additional works at: https://aquila.usm.edu/masters\_theses



Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Walbridge, Fayth, "Proposed Subtypes of Anger Rumination: Brooding and Reflection and Their Associations with Aggression" (2021). Master's Theses. 807. https://aquila.usm.edu/masters\_theses/807

This Masters Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by The Aquila Digital Community. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of The Aquila Digital Community. For more information, please contact Joshua.Cromwell@usm.edu.

# PROPOSED SUBTYPES OF ANGER RUMINATION: BROODING AND REFLECTION AND THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH AGGRESSION

by

## Fayth C. Walbridge

A Thesis
Submitted to the Graduate School,
the College of Education and Human Sciences
and the School of Psychology
at The University of Southern Mississippi
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of Master of Arts

## Approved by:

Dr. Stephanie D. Smith, Committee Chair Dr. Joye Anestis Dr. Eric Dahlen

## **COPYRIGHT BY**

Fayth C. Walbridge

2021

# Published by the Graduate School



#### **ABSTRACT**

Rumination maintains, exacerbates, and is related to several maladaptive outcomes including negative affect (e.g., sadness, anger), symptoms of depression, and aggression in samples of nonclinical and clinical populations across developmental periods (e.g., McLaughlin & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2011; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1991; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1996; Thomsen, 2006; Peled & Moretti, 2007; Yang, et. al., 2014). Recently, the construct of sadness rumination has been conceptualized as two distinct subtypes, reflection and brooding (Treynor, Gonzalez, & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2003). Brooding is considered maladaptive because feelings and situations are viewed through a negativistic lens and reflection is viewed as adaptive and uses a problem-solving approach (Lopez, 2010; Burwell & Shirk, 2007; Smith & Alloy, 2009; Treynor, et al., 2003). The current study aimed to expand upon this past research and examine whether a two-factor model of rumination (brooding and reflection) is relevant for anger rumination and examine which subtype is associated with different forms of aggression. Results revealed that a two-factor model of anger rumination was a better fit than a one-factor model. Furthermore, this study found that brooding significantly associated with increases in physical and relational aggression and reflection was significantly associated with decreases in physical and relational aggression. However, reflection and not brooding was determined to be significantly associated with elevated levels of verbal aggression. Importantly, sex did not moderate the relationship between brooding and the different forms of aggression. Overall, these findings provide evidence of brooding and reflection subtypes for anger rumination and increases the specificity of how risk factors for

aggression are conceptualized, thus informing future directions for research and treatment.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

I would like to thank my committee chair and major professor, Dr. Stephanie Smith. Thank you for all of the support you have provided me throughout this entire process. I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis committee members, Dr. Joye Anestis and Dr. Eric Dahlen, the feedback you provided me for my thesis project has been invaluable. Finally, I would like to thank my incredible colleagues within my program.

# DEDICATION

This thesis project is dedicated to my parents, brothers, and Grandma Lorrie.

Thank you all for inspiring me to pursue my dreams and for your continuous support. I wouldn't be where I am without all of you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiv
DEDICATIONv
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSix
CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION
Models of Rumination2
Sadness Rumination
Anger Rumination
Subtypes of Rumination
Sex Differences in Rumination and Maladaptive Outcomes
Current Study11
CHAPTER II – METHODOLOGY
Participants
Measures
The Self-Report of Aggression & Social Behavior Measure (SRASBM; Morales &
Crick, 1998)
Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire (BPAQ; Buss & Perry, 1992)
The Anger Rumination Scale (ARS: Sukhodolsky et al., 2001)

Covariates	18
Procedure	18
CHAPTER III - RESULTS	19
Quality Control Checks	19
Preliminary Analyses	21
Main Study Analyses	22
Confirmatory Factor Analyses	22
Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses	23
Simple Moderation Models	27
CHAPTER IV – DISCUSSION	29
Clinical Implications	33
Limitations and Future Directions	35
Conclusion	37
APPENDIX A – The Self-Report of Aggression & Social Behavior Measure	39
APPENDIX B – Anger Rumination Scale	46
APPENDIX C – Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire	48
APPENDIX D – Depression Anxiety Stress Scale	50
APPENDIX E –Demographic Questionnaire	52
DEEEDENCES	56

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Subtype Classification of Rumination Items	17
Table 2 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Study Variables	20
Table 3 Confirmatory Factor Analysis	23
Table 4 Hierarchical Regression of Subtypes Predicting Aggression on the SRASBM	26
Table 5 Hierarchical Regression of Subtypes Predicting Aggression on the BPAQ	26
Table 6 Simple Moderation Effects Outcome	28

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ARS Anger Rumination Scale

BPAQ Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire

DASS-21 Depression Anxiety Stress Scale

SRASBM Self-Report of Aggression & Social

Behavior Measure

#### CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION

Rumination is a maladaptive cognitive response style that involves repetitive and intrusive self-focused attention on negative internal states, moods, thoughts, or feelings (Barber, Maltby, & Macaskill, 2005; Lyubomirsky & Nolen Hoeksema, 1995). Past research has found that rumination enhances negative thinking, impair problem-solving, prompt problematic behaviors (e.g., self-harm, binge eating, and binge drinking), negatively impact social relationships, impair the management of daily stressors, increase the duration of depressive episodes, and heighten the experience of anger (Hoeksema, Wisco, Lyubomirsky, 2008; Lyubomirsky, Tucker, Caldwell, & Berg, 1999; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1996; Nolen-Hoeksema,). Some research has examined rumination to general negative affective states (e.g. Trapnell & Campbell, 1999) while other studies have focused on rumination to specific moods (e.g., Anestis, Anestis, Selby, & Joiner, 2009; Papageorgiou & Wells, 2004; Peled & Moretti, 2010), primarily examining rumination to feelings of sadness and the impact this negative response style has on the emergence and maintenance of depression. Ruminating to anger has received less research attention, but studies have been consistent in finding an association between anger rumination and forms of aggression (e.g., Smith, Stephens, Repper, & Kistner, 2016; Anestis, et al., 2009; Bushman, 2002; Peled & Moretti, 2007; Rusting & Nolen-Hoeksema, 1998). Specifically, anger rumination has been found to maintain and intensify anger and increase aggressive outcome as opposed to using other emotion regulation strategies (i.e., distraction; Anestis, et al., 2009; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1996; Peled & Moretti, 2010).

More recently, there have been refinements to the construct of rumination and studies have demonstrated that sadness rumination has two distinct subtypes: reflection

and brooding. In fact, previous work has shown that reflection is adaptive and uses a more problem-solving approach whereas brooding is maladaptive and considers feelings and situations through an anxious or gloomy lens (Treynor, et al., 2003). These two subtypes have different relationships with depression both in their ability to predict depression and whether it explains sex differences in depression symptoms (Treynor, et al., 2003). To our knowledge, this two-factor model of rumination has not yet been applied to anger rumination. A better understanding of brooding and reflection as potential subtypes of anger rumination could offer an important refinement to the anger rumination research literature and inform future clinical and research directions.

#### Models of Rumination

There have been two models proposed in understanding rumination and its contributory role to maladaptive outcomes: a general model and specificity model. In the general model, rumination is not specific to any particular emotion or context (e.g. "it is hard for me to shut off thoughts about myself"; Trapnell & Campbell, 1999; Verona, 2005) and it has been shown to significantly increase or maintain negative emotions including fear, sadness, and hostility (Borders, Earleywine, & Archana, 2010; Verona, 2005). In contrast, a specificity model of rumination examines rumination in response to specific negative moods (i.e., anger and sadness) and its prediction of distinct outcomes (e.g., depression, aggression; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1991; Nolen-Hoeksema, et al., 2008; Peled & Moretti, 2010).

Smith and Alloy (2009) found that ruminating on a specific mood (i.e., sadness) is useful and distinct from the general rumination model because it is parsimonious, moodstate focused, and predicts more specific mental health outcomes (i.e., depression). In

fact, Peled and Moretti (2010) proposed a higher-order factor of general rumination and two lower-order factors, anger and sadness rumination, finding that anger rumination was associated with aggression, while sadness rumination was associated with depressed mood in a sample of college undergraduates. These findings supporting the concept of anger and sadness rumination as distinct constructs (Peled & Moretti, 2010); similar results were found in sample of clinic-referred adolescents (Peled & Moretti, 2007). Gilbert and colleagues (2005) determined that sadness rumination was associated with increased depression symptoms when both anger and sadness rumination were measured in a college undergraduate sample; however, this study only focused on depression as an outcome measure. In a community sample of children, it was discovered that anger rumination was significantly associated with increased aggression and rumination to sadness was significantly associated with a decrease in aggression (Harmon, Stephens, Repper, Driscoll, Kistner, 2019). It appears that the specificity model provides a better understanding of what types of rumination increase the risk of specific outcomes, which could help inform more targeted treatments.

#### Sadness Rumination

Nolen-Hoeksema's response styles theory (1991; 1996) defined rumination as the pervasive and unintentional dwelling on feelings, causes, or outcomes of emotional distress. Two different styles of responding to depressed mood have been proposed by Nolen-Hoeksema (1991): (1) focusing inward on its symptoms, causes, and consequences referred to as a ruminative response style, or (2) focusing outward on events or activities unrelated to the source of the distress referred to as a distracting response style. Several mechanisms have been proposed explaining how rumination increases and prolongs

emotional distress, particularly depression. Specifically, rumination enhances negativistic thinking and interferes with effective problem-solving and instrumental behaviors that may improve the situation. Additionally, it has been suggested that individuals who are prone to a ruminative response style might be predisposed to interpersonal conflict by behaving in a hopeless, apathetic, or pessimistic style that irritates others, thus leading to less social support, which in turn exacerbates depression symptoms (Flynn, Kecmanovic, & Alloy, 2010; Nolen-Hoeksema & Davis, 1999).

Concurrent and longitudinal studies using samples across different developmental periods examining sadness rumination as a risk factor of depression-related outcomes have been done. Indeed, rumination has been found to be associated with the duration and intensity of depression symptoms whereas distraction has been determined to alleviate negative feelings, as one's focus is placed elsewhere and oftentimes on more enjoyable activities (Nolen-Hoeksema, 2000; Spasojevic, & Alloy 2001; Nolen-Hoeksema, Morrow, & Fredrickson, 1993; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1991). Experimental studies have also provided evidence of the causality between sadness rumination and an increase in depression symptoms (Lyubomirsky & Nolen-Hoeksema, 1995; Morrow & Nolen-Hoeksema, 1990). Marrow and Nolen-Hoeksema (1990) for example, induced a depressed mood (i.e., participants read a sad story and were instructed to imagine the events happening to them) in participants who were randomly assigned to different response styles (e.g., active distraction, passive distraction, active rumination, and passive rumination). It was found that those participants who were assigned to the distraction conditions had lower self-reported ratings of depressed mood than those participants assigned to the rumination conditions. Additionally, in cross-sectional studies, individuals who scored higher on measures of sadness rumination evidenced increases in depression symptoms (Cheung, Gilbert, & Irons, 2004; Conway, Csank, Holm, & Blake, 2000; Garnefski, Legerstee, Kraaji, van den Kommer, & Teerds, 2002; Watinks, 2004; Ziegert & Kistner, 2002). This research on the association of sadness rumination and depression was extended to samples across different developmental periods (e.g., Lopez, 2010; Abela, Brozina, & Haigh, 2002; Schwartz & Koenig, 1996). It appears that rumination to sadness has a contributory role in the development and maintenance of depression; this relationship has been established in age-diverse samples using a variety of research designs (i.e., cross-sectional, longitudinal, experimental).

#### **Anger Rumination**

As mentioned previously, research on rumination has expanded to include examining this response style to other negative moods including anger and how this may impact subsequent behavior. Anger rumination is the propensity to unintentionally dwell on an angry mood or past angering event or its causes and consequences and is viewed as an independent constructed within anger phenomenology (Sukhodolsky, Golub, & Cromwell, 2001). The primary distinction between anger and anger rumination is that anger is a negative emotion with psychological components, cognitive components, emotional components, and action tendencies (Kassinove & Sukhodolsky, 1995) and anger rumination is thinking about this emotion (Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001). In fact, prior studies have determined that anger rumination is moderately correlated with anger, intensifies the feeling of anger, and predicts aggression-related behaviors above and beyond trait anger (Peled & Moretti, 2010; Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001).

Rumination after an angering event is correlated with not only increased levels of anger but also aggressive outcomes. Indeed, Rusting and Nolen-Hoeksema (1998) elicited an angry mood through an imagination task in college students, following which participants ruminated or used distraction. Those who ruminated reported significantly higher anger than those who were in the distraction condition. Similar findings were revealed by Pedersen and colleagues (2011) where anger was incited in college students by insulting them and more anger was reported by those participants who ruminated on the provocation than those participants who were distracted by writing about their college campus. Both self-reported anger and aggression scores (i.e., intensity and duration of noise blasts directed at a confederate giving negative feedback) were significantly greater for college undergraduate participants instructed to hit a punching bag and think about the individual that criticized them (rumination condition), than participants who engaged in physical fitness exercises (distraction condition) or participants who were asked to sit quietly (control condition; Bushman, 2002). Using a similar experimental design, it was shown that rumination following an anger-provoking situation increased the likelihood of aggression even if the aggression was not directed at the provocateur, but at a clumsy confederate (i.e., displaced aggression; Bushman, et al., 2005). Additionally, Collins and Bell (1997) found that participants were identified as high or low ruminators by a selfreport measure (i.e., Dissipation-Rumination Scale) and those participants who were high-ruminators displayed increased levels of aggression, as measured by the deduction of points, and delivering a loud noise an 'opponent' after receiving negative feedback.

Correlational studies using self-reported anger rumination measures have also found an association between anger rumination and different forms of aggression.

Anestis and colleagues (2009) findings revealed that anger rumination predicted physical and verbal aggression, however, anger rumination was not associated with anger. Several other studies have replicated the finding that anger rumination is associated with physical and verbal aggression or reactive and proactive aggression in samples of adolescents and adults (Peled & Moretti, 2007; Peled & Moretti, 2010; White & Turner, 2014). The research evidence available strongly suggests that anger rumination is potentially a risk factor of different forms of aggression so having a more refined conceptualization of this construct will help inform future research and clinical work.

#### Subtypes of Rumination

More recently, the conceptualization of rumination has changed and thought to encompass two subtypes: brooding and reflection (Treynor, et al., 2003). Reflection is likely mor adaptive, as it is characterized as neutrally introspective and uses problemsolving to alleviate negative feelings and gain insight into one's problems. Thus, reflection may be used as a coping mechanism to deal with and overcome stressful life events that trigger negative moods (Treynor, et al., 2003). Importantly, reflection may be prompted by and lead to negative affect in the concurrently, however it may reduce negative affect overtime through effective problem-solving (Treynor, et al., 2003). While brooding is regarded as more maladaptive subtype and involves self-blame, moody pondering, and a passive comparison to unachievable standards (Treynor, et al., 2003). Treynor and colleagues (2003) proposed initial support for these two subtypes of rumination when a two-factor solution comprising reflection and brooding was revealed on the Ruminative Response Scale (RRS), which is a self-report measure assessing cognitive response styles to depressed mood in adults (Nolen-Hoeksema & Marrow,

1991). Further evidence of these subtypes has been gleaned by studies finding different patterns of associations between the reflection and brooding and depression symptoms. Indeed, Treynor and colleagues (2003) study determined that brooding was positively associated with more depressive symptoms scores both concurrently and longitudinally and reflection was associated with an increase of depressive symptoms concurrently, but negatively correlated with depressive symptoms longitudinally, which was attributed to its more problem-solving orientation. These findings were further supported by a study by Burwell and Shirk (2007) revealed that brooding was correlated with the development of depression symptoms longitudinally whereas reflection was not. This study also found that brooding was linked to maladaptive coping strategies and reflection was associated with adaptive coping strategies in response to stress (Burwell & Shirk, 2007). Lopez and colleagues (2009) found that brooding was linked to depression symptoms whereas reflection was not. Interestingly, a unique association was found between negative affect and brooding but not reflection (Lopez, 2010). Finally, Ciarocco and colleagues (2010) conducted a series of studies where undergraduate participants received negative feedback upon completion of a task (i.e., word search or creative task). For participants who engaged in goal-oriented rumination or reflection (e.g., thinking about how to approach the task differently for a better outcome), their performance improved. However, for those participants who engaged in state-rumination or brooding (e.g., focusing on their shortcomings and how that might impact future goals), their performance deteriorated. These findings indicate that rumination might be beneficial when the purpose is to self-correct for goal attainment and maladaptive if the focus is on

past failings that are unlikely to change, emphasizing the importance of understanding the maladaptive and adaptive dimensions of rumination.

No known studies have examined if these subtypes extend to different forms of context-specific rumination (i.e., anger rumination) and how they relate to relevant maladaptive outcomes (i.e., aggression). However, it has been suggested that brooding may be correlated with anger, which is a predictor of aggression (Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001). A measure of anger rumination (i.e., Anger Rumination Scale) has four subscales that were termed angry afterthoughts, angry memories, thoughts of revenge, and understanding of causes. The angry afterthoughts factor comprises items covering content about the maintenance of angering thoughts and the re-enactment of an angry episode and two of these items with the highest loadings were thought to reflect brooding, suggesting a more complex factor structure of anger rumination that is worthy of further evaluation (Sukhodolsky et al., 2001).

#### Sex Differences in Rumination and Maladaptive Outcomes

Sex differences in sadness rumination are well-established where the majority of research has shown that women are more likely to ruminate to sadness compared to men (Broderick & Korteland, 2002; Lopez, et al. 2009; Nolen-Hoeksema & Jackson, 2001) Relatedly, rumination is linked with lengthier and more intense periods of depressed moods in women and not men (Allgood-Merten, Lewinsohn, & Hops, 1990; Nolen-Hoeksema 1995; Rusting & Nolen Hoeksema, 1998). Additionally, socialized masculinity is negatively associated rumination (Wupperman & Neumann, 2006). Further, females are permitted or even expected to outwardly express this emotion whereas males are encouraged to employ problem-solving as a way to alleviate sadness

(Zahn-Waxler, Cole, & Barrett, 1991; Wupperman & Neumann, 2006). With respect to subtypes of sadness rumination, women have higher levels of reflection and brooding in comparison to men. Interestingly, brooding has been found to mediate the relationship between sex differences and depressive symptoms, suggesting that sex differences within brooding account for higher levels of depression in women (Treynor et al., 2003). Lopez et al. (2009) furthered this research on sadness rumination to children (grades 2<sup>nd</sup> through 7<sup>th</sup>) and found that girls compared to boys had increased levels of both subtypes of aggression and brooding, is linked with a vulnerability for depression.

However, no sex differences have been found between men and women with anger rumination and these results have been replicated in studies with adolescents (Maxwell, 2004; Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001, Peled & Moretti, 2010). In contrast Maxwell and colleagues (2005) determined that men in Hong Kong ruminated on anger more than women. Furthermore, different subscales on the Anger Rumination Scale have been found to have sex differences. Specifically, men had higher score than women on the thoughts of revenge subscale of the Anger Rumination Scale (Sukhodolsky et al., 2001). Although both men and women have similar tendencies to ruminate to anger, the type of aggression that is subsequently elicited may be different. Women's anger rumination has been found to be correlated with relational aggression compared to physical aggression whereas in men, anger rumination has been shown to correlate at equivalent strengths with physical and relational aggression (Peled, 2006). These patterns of results appear to correspond to the sex differences found across different forms of aggression. Previous research has demonstrated that males have higher levels of physical aggression compared to females (Burton, Hafetz, & Henninger, 2007; Buss and Perry 1992) and women and

men show similar levels of relational aggression during emerging adulthood (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008; Linder, Crick, & Collins, 2002; Loudin, Loukas, & Robinson, 2003).

#### Current Study

This study sought to refine the construct of anger rumination to determine when this maladaptive response style is linked with different forms of aggression (i.e., physical and relational). The two subtypes of rumination have been examined in the context of their prediction of internalizing symptoms (e.g., depression), but no known research has examined the relationship between the two subtypes of rumination and other maladaptive outcomes (e.g., aggression). A more in-depth understanding of anger rumination will inform treatments regarding what emotion regulation strategies to promote and what to avoid when coping with strong emotions that increase the risk of aggression.

The present study was an extension of studies that have found evidence for two subtypes of rumination in response to sadness (Burwell & Shirk, 2007; Lopez et al., 2009; Treynor et al., 2003). Results from both exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses have revealed a two-factor structure of sadness rumination representing brooding and reflection and prior studies have found that brooding and not reflection significantly predict elevated levels of depression symptoms in samples of children, adolescents, and adults (Burwell & Shirk, 2007; Lopez et al., 2009; Treynor et al., 2003). This study aimed to replicate these results for anger rumination and to examine whether a two-factor model of rumination (reflection and brooding) is a better fit to the data than a one-factor model of rumination. Another aim of this study was to examine the relationship between the two subtypes of rumination and different forms of aggression, as anger rumination is a risk factor for physical, relational, and verbal aggression (Anestis,

et al., 2009; Peled & Moretti, 2010). Given the unique association between brooding and depression and the link between anger rumination and aggression, it was predicted that brooding will significantly predict physical, verbal, and relational aggression. Per previous research, anger was included as a covariate, given the strong correlation between anger and aggression (e.g., Border & Lu, 2016). Other potential covariates (e.g., age, race, symptoms of depression and anxiety) were included in the model if correlated with different outcome variables.

The present study also analyzed the moderating effect of sex on the relationships between brooding and two forms of aggression (i.e., relational and physical). Sex differences have been found in sadness rumination and the two subtypes of rumination with women reporting higher levels of brooding than men (Broderick & Korteland, 2002; Lopez, et al. 2009; Nolen-Hoeksema & Jackson, 2001; Treynor, et al., 2001). In contrast to these findings for sadness rumination, most research has found that men and women employ similar levels of anger rumination (Maxwell, 2004; Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001, Peled & Moretti, 2010), with exception of men having higher scores on the Thoughts of Revenge subscale of the ARS (Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001). Additionally, in emerging adulthood men are more physically aggressive than women (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008). Although no sex differences have been found for relational aggression during this developmental period (Linder et al. 2002; Loudin et al. 2003), anger rumination in women has been found to more strongly correlate with relational aggression than physical aggression (Peled, 2006). Thus, it was hypothesized that sex will moderate the relationship between brooding and two forms of aggression (i.e., physical and relational aggression) where the relationship between brooding and relational aggression was

predicted to be stronger for women and the association between brooding and physical aggression was expected to be stronger for men.

#### CHAPTER II – METHODOLOGY

#### **Participants**

A total of 146 participants completed the entirety of this study's procedures, which surpassed the number of participants needed to detect medium sized effects according to an a priori power analysis (Cohen's  $f^2$  =.15,  $\alpha$  = .05, power .9; Faul, et al., 2007). Participants were 31.5% male and 68.5% female with ages ranging from 17-52 years (M = 20.34 years; SD = 5.19). Forty-six percent of participants were Freshman, 25.3% were Sophomores, 13.0% were Juniors, and 15.1% were Seniors at the time of completing this study. A small minority of participants (2.1%) indicated they had previously been diagnosed with a psychological disorder (e.g., depression, anxiety, ADHD) for which they were currently taking prescription medications (e.g., stimulants, antidepressants; 0.7%). The racial composition of participants is 52.74% white/Caucasian 37.7% black/African American, 3.4% Asian, 2.7% biracial, and 3.4% other. Overall, the demographics of our sample are representative of the student population at the University where this study took place.

#### Measures

The Self-Report of Aggression & Social Behavior Measure (SRASBM; Morales & Crick, 1998)

The SRASBM is a 56-item self-report measure that assesses aggression-related behaviors. This measure contains six scales: relational aggression, physical aggression, relational victimization, physical victimization, exclusivity, and prosocial behavior. Items are rated on a 7-point Likert type scale ranging from 1 ("not at all true") to 7 ("very

true"), with higher scores indicating a greater likelihood of aggressive behavior, victimization, prosocial behavior, or exclusivity. Several studies have found adequate internal consistency for this measure, with Cronbach alpha coefficients ranging from .70 to .87 for the total measure (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008; Goldstein, Young, & Boyd, 2008; Lento-Zwolinksi, 2007; Linder et al., 2002; Miller & Lyman, 2003; Murray-Close, Ostrov, Nelson, Crick, & Coccaro., 2010; Ostrov & Houston, 2008; Schad, Szwedo, Antonishak, Hare, & Allen., 2008) and .87 for the relational aggression and .82 for the physical aggression subscales (Clifford, 2007). The stability estimate at nine months was excellent for relational aggression (r = .91) (Murray-Close, et. al., 2010). Relational aggression and physical aggression subscales were used to measure different forms of aggression for the purposes of this study. Cronbach's Alpha results for this study's sample revealed good internal consistency for the relational aggression scale ( $\alpha = .85$ ) and excellent internal consistency for the physical aggression scale ( $\alpha = .92$ ) of the SRASBM.

Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire (BPAQ; Buss & Perry, 1992)

The BPAQ is a 29- item measure that assesses four dimensions: anger, hostility, physical aggression, and verbal aggression. Items are scored on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 ("extremely uncharacteristic of me") to 5 ("extremely characteristic of me"). The internal consistency for this measure has evidenced good internal consistency  $\alpha$  =.89. In addition, the internal consistency for each dimension has been found to be adequate with alpha coefficients of .85 for physical aggression, .72 for verbal aggression, .77 for the hostility subscale, and .83 for anger. This measure was used to capture physical aggression, verbal aggression, and anger for the purposes of this study (Buss & Perry,

1992). Cronbach's alpha results for this study's sample revealed acceptable internal consistency for the physical aggression scale ( $\alpha$  = .79) and the anger scale ( $\alpha$  = .76) and good internal consistency for the verbal aggression scale ( $\alpha$  = .80) on the BPAQ. The Anger Rumination Scale (ARS: Sukhodolsky et al., 2001)

The ARS is a 25-item self-report measure that assesses one's tendency to think about current anger-provoking situations and to recall past anger episodes. The ARS is comprised of 4 subscales: angry afterthoughts, thoughts of revenge, angry memories, and understanding causes. Items are scored on a 4-point Likert type scale ranging from 1 ("almost never) to 4 ("almost always"). Prior studies have found the internal consistency alpha coefficient to be .93 for the total measure, with item-total correlations ranging from .39 to .75 (Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001). The retest reliability coefficient was reported to be .77, which is indicative of good stability of the anger rumination construct over a 1-month period.

For this study, brooding and reflection subscales were comprised of items from the ARS and developed according to the method previously used in the extant literature including methods outlined in the Lopez and colleagues (2010) paper. Specifically, five independent raters who are members of the Childhood Neurodevelopmental Disorder Lab were given all of the items on the ARS and asked to categorize applicable items on the ARS as either brooding or reflection using definitions outlined by Treynor and colleagues (2003). Specifically, reflection was regarded as neutrally valanced and encapsulated by a tendency "to engage in contemplation; to reflect; to ponder" (Woolf, p.1004, 1981) in order "to deal with and attempt to overcome problems and difficulties" using a more problem-solving approach (Woolf, p. 248, 1981; Treynor, et al., 2003). Brooding was

defined as moody pondering or thinking gloomily about a situation and was considered more maladaptive, as it focused on feelings evoked during an upsetting or angering event through a negativistic lens (Woolf, p.140, 1981; Treynor, et al., 2003). They were also given examples of Reflection and Brooding items and instructed on what qualities an item would need to have in order to be categorized as Reflection or Brooding. Agreement of at least 80% or higher across all raters was needed for an item to be included on either subscale. Independent raters categorized 6 items as brooding ( $\alpha = .84$ ) and 6 items as reflection ( $\alpha = .86$ ) and their classification of items can be found in Table 1.

Table 1
Subtype Classification of Rumination Items

ARS Rumination Item	Item Type	Original ARS Subscale
1. I ruminate about my past anger experiences	Brooding	Angry Memories
2. I ponder about the injustices that have been	Brooding	<b>Angry Memories</b>
done to me		
4. I have long living fantasies of revenge after	Brooding	Thoughts of Revenge
the conflict is over	Drooding	Angry Mamorias
5. I think about certain events from a long time ago and they still make me angry	Brooding	Angry Memories
7. After an argument is over, I keep fighting	Brooding	Angry Afterthoughts
with this person in my imagination	C	
15. When someone makes me angry, I can't	Brooding	Thoughts of Revenge
stop thinking about how to get back at this		
person	D. Cl:	A A C 1 1 1
9. Whenever I experience anger, I keep thinking about it for a while	Reflection	Angry Afterthoughts
10. I have times when I cannot stop being	Reflection	Understanding Causes
preoccupied with a particular conflict		Charistaniania Caasts
11. I analyze events that make me angry	Reflection	<b>Understanding Causes</b>
12. I think about the reasons people treat me	Reflection	<b>Understanding Causes</b>
badly		_
18. When something makes me angry, I turn	Reflection	Angry Afterthought
this matter over and over again in my mind	D. Cl:	A A C 1 1 1
19. I re-enact the anger episode in my mind	Reflection	Angry Afterthoughts
after it has happened		

#### **Covariates**

Trait anger was captured by the anger scale ( $\alpha$  = .83) of the Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire (BPAQ; Buss & Perry, 1992). Other covariates (e.g., age, race, depression, anxiety) were obtained from the demographic form or the anxiety scale ( $\alpha$  = .84) and depression scale ( $\alpha$  = .91) of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). Cronbach's alpha results for this study's sample revealed excellent internal consistency for the items on the anxiety scale ( $\alpha$  = .90) and depression scale ( $\alpha$  = .90) on the DASS-21.

#### Procedure

Data were collected online from undergraduate college students at a mid-sized southcentral university in the United States, as part of a larger study (IRB approval number:16090602). This study answered a novel set of research questions and required modification to the original IRB protocol. Data collection for this study began on August 2019 and continued until December 2020. All measures were completed online via Qualtrics, an experience management platform that aids in the gathering and analyzing of data, as posted on SONA, a cloud-based participant pool management software.

Measures were administered in the same order for all participants starting with the demographics form, followed by the ARS, the DASS-21, the SRASBM, and finally the BPAQ. Undergraduates who completed the study received course credits that were either required for course completion or were used as extra-credit depending on the preference set by the course instructor.

#### CHAPTER III - RESULTS

#### **Quality Control Checks**

Quality-control questions were used to measure attentiveness, accuracy, and consistency of responding by participants and were inserted throughout the study questionnaire by asking participants to select certain answers (e.g., select answer 2 for this item). A final validity question was inserted at the end of the questionnaire asking participants if they had answered all questions to the best of their ability. They were informed that their response to this item did not impact whether or not they received credit for participation but helped assess the quality of the data. If the participant's responses appeared inconsistent or inaccurate (e.g., not responding to similar questions in the same manner or responding in a particular pattern) or did not pass the quality control questions, their data was not included in the study analyses. Based on criteria set by previous studies (Oppenheimer et al., 2009), participants who failed more than two of the six quality control checks or responded that they did not answer all questions to the best of their ability were removed from the sample. In total, data from 5 participants were not included in this study due to their responses appearing inconsistent or inaccurate. Specifically, one participant responded no to the final question revealing that they did not believe that they answered the questions truthfully and to the best of their ability. Additionally, four participants were not included for responding in an inconsistent manner or failing instructions to manipulation checks.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Study Variables

Variables	M(SD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1.Reflection	2.04		.75**	.28**	.28**	.38**	.44**	.52**	08	.53**	.45**	18*
	(.69)			dede	dist	at at	de de	dede		dede	de de	
2. Brooding	1.769			.42**	.46**	.42**	.37**	.55**	.02	.51**	.50**	15
	(.61)				**	44		44		44	<b>ታ</b> ታ	
3. Relational	1.58				.76**	.39**	.13	.43**	.12	.49**	.40**	01
Aggression	(.94)											
(SRASBM)						ale ale	ate.	ale ale		ale ale	ale ale	
4. Physical	1.59					.60**	.19*	.50**	04	.48**	.38**	.07
Aggression	(.94)											
(SRASBM)							ale ale	ale ale		ale ale	ale ale	
5.Physical	2.18						.51**	.68**	14	.42**	.35**	10
Aggression	(.73)											
(BPAQ)								44	<b>.</b>	44	<b>ታ</b> ታ	4
6.Verbal	2.77							.58**	19 <sup>*</sup>	.22**	.22**	20*
Aggression	(.91)											
(BPAQ)										44	<b>ታ</b> ታ	
7.Anger	2.30								.07	.50**	.37**	09
	(.90)											
8.Sex										.13	02	.05
9.Anxiety	1.60										.63**	14
	(.52)											
10.	1.63											17*
Depression	(.53)											
11.Age	20.34											
C	(5.20)											

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .001.

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

Prior to conducting analyses, all variables were examined for missing data and descriptive statistics were run to determine if variable scores were within the expected range and aligned with previous studies using undergraduate samples. There was a low percentage of data missing (i.e., <2%) thus, no further actions were taken, as the influence of missing data would be negligible (Meyers et al, 2013). Univariate outliers were examined using boxplots, histograms, and z-score distributions, and no univariate outliers were found. Further, mahalanobis distances were examined and no potential multivariate outliers were noted. The histogram of standardized residuals indicated that the data contained normally distributed errors. The scatterplot of standardized predicted values demonstrated that the data met the assumptions of homogeneity of variance and linearity. Additionally, the data met the assumptions of independent error which was tested by examining the Durbin-Watson values. To examine the normality of the data, skewness and kurtosis of study variables were examined. The physical and relational aggression subscales on the Self-Report of Aggression & Social Behavior Measure, were determined to be positively skewed. To correct for the skewness of this measure, items were transformed using the Blom transformation; the most commonly used rank-based normalization procedure and best method to approximate normality for non-normally distributed data (Beasley et al., 2009). Importantly, the same analyses were run without transforming these variables and a similar pattern of significant results were found. Means, standard deviations and correlations between study variables using the nontransformed variables are presented in Table 2.

#### Main Study Analyses

#### Confirmatory Factor Analyses

To test the hypothesis that anger rumination is best conceptualized as having two distinct subtypes two Confirmatory Factor Analyses were run using Mplus 8.5 (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2017) software. Specifically, a one-factor anger rumination model comprising 12 items and a two-factor model consisting of a 6-item Brooding subscale and a 6-item Reflection subscale were run and compared. The maximum likelihood (ML) estimator, the recommended approach for data that are normally distributed (Li, 2016), was applied to these data to estimate model parameters (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2017). Several fit indices were examined to determine fit of these models to our data including, chi-square statistic (p-value ≥ .05 indicates good fit), Comparative Fit Index, (CFI values between .80 to .89 indicating adequate fit and values >.95 indicating good fit; Bentler, 1990), Tucker-Lewis index (TLI values between .80 to .89 indicating adequate fit and values > .95 indicating good fit; Tucker & Lewis, 1973), and Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA values between .08 to .10 indicates moderate fit; < .08 indicates good fit; Steiger, 1990). To determine if the two-factor model outperformed the onefactor model, a chi-square difference test was run, and values for the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; Akaike, 1974) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC; Schwarz, 1978) were examined. The model with more degrees of freedom (or less constrained model) is rejected if there is a significant chi-square difference test and smaller AIC and BIC values indicate a better fitting model.

The one-factor model of anger rumination demonstrated a good fit to the data, as evidenced by the following fit indices:  $\chi^2(54) = 78.19$ , p = .017; CFI = .96; TLI = .956 and RMSEA= .06. The two-factor model demonstrated an excellent fit to the data, as evidenced by the following fit indices:  $\chi^2(53) = 64.27$ , p = .138; CFI = .98; TLI = .98 and RMSEA=.04. The results of a chi-square difference test indicated that the two-factor model was a significantly better fit to the data than the one-factor model,  $\chi^2(1) = 13.9$ , p < .001. Furthermore, both the AIC and BIC values were smaller for the two-factor model compared to the one-factor model. Given these findings, brooding and reflection were entered as separate predictors in the subsequent regression and moderation analyses. The results of the CFAs for the one-factor and two-factor models are shown in Table 3.

Table 3

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Model Fit Index	One-Factor Model	Two-Factor Model
χ2	78.17	64.27
p	0.017	0.138
TLI	0.96	0.98
CFI	0.96	0.98
RMSEA	0.06	0.04

#### Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses

The second hypothesis was that brooding and not reflection would be significantly predictive of all forms of aggression. To test this hypothesis, a series of hierarchical multiple regression models were run where sex, age, anger, depression, and anxiety were entered as covariates in the first step of the model, brooding and reflection

were entered in the second step of the model as independent variables, and relational aggression (Model 1) and physical aggression (Model 2) scores from the SRASBM and physical aggression (Model 3) and verbal aggression (Model 4) scores from the BPAQ were entered in separate models as dependent variables. Given the strong correlation between brooding and reflection, the variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance were examined to ensure that there were no issues with multicollinearity. Given the VIF was below 10 and Tolerance was above 0.10 for both brooding and reflection (Brooding: Tolerance = .39, VIF = 2.54; Reflection: Tolerance = .37, VIF = 2.59), the parameters of the regression analyses were able to be reliably estimated. Four hierarchical linear regressions were used so we could examine how much variance brooding and reflection uniquely accounted for in the models across aggression outcomes. For model 1, the covariates were found to significantly contribute to the regression model, F(5,139) =12.07, p < .001, and explained 30.3% of the variance in relational aggression on the SRASBM. Adding brooding and reflection to the model explained an additional 34.1% of the variance in relational aggression on the SRASBM and this change in  $R^2$  was significant, F(2,137) = 3.94, p = .022. For model 2, the covariates were found to significantly contribute to the regression model, F(5,139) = 12.02, p < .001, and accounted for 27.7% of the variance in physical aggression on the SRASBM. Adding brooding and reflection to the model explained an additional 34.1% of the variance in physical aggression on the SRASBM and this change in  $R^2$  was significant, F(2,137) =7.80, p = .001. For model 3, the covariates were found to significantly contribute to the regression model, F(5,137) = 28.32, p < .001, and accounted for 49% of the variance in

physical aggression on the BPAQ. Adding brooding and reflection to the model explained an additional 48.7% of the variance in physical aggression on the BPAQ; however, this change in  $R^2$  was not significant, F(2,135) = .61, p = .546. Finally, for model 4, the covariates were found to significantly contribute to the regression model, F(5,139) = 19.56, p < .001, and accounted for 41.3% of the variance in verbal aggression on the BPAQ. Adding brooding and reflection to the model explained an additional 43.7% of the variance in verbal aggression on the BPAQ and this change in  $R^2$  was marginally significant, F(2,137) = 2.91, p = .058.

With respect to how our predictor variables were associated with the four aggression outcome variables, brooding significantly predicted relational aggression on the SRASBM ( $\beta$  = .30, t(137) = 2.68, p = .008) and physical aggression on the SRASBM ( $\beta$  = .41, t(137) = 3.72, p < .001) in the expected direction; for every one unit increase in brooding, physical and relational aggression on the SRASBM *increased* by .41 and .30 units, respectively. However, brooding did not significantly predict verbal aggression on the BPAQ ( $\beta$  = -.06, t(137) = -.56, p = .578) and physical aggression on the BPAQ ( $\beta$  = .08, t(135) = .79 p = .433). Reflection significantly predicted relational aggression on the SRASBM ( $\beta$  = -.25, t(137) = -.25, p = .026) and physical aggression on the SRASBM ( $\beta$  = -.35, t(137) = -3.25, p = .001); for every one unit increase in reflection, physical and relational aggression on the SRASBM *decreased* by .35 and .25 units, respectively. Surprisingly, reflection significantly predicted verbal aggression on the BPAQ ( $\beta$  = .23, t(137) = 2.23, p = .027) but not in the expected direction; for every one unit increase in reflection, there was a .23 unit *increase* in verbal aggression on the BPAQ. Reflection did

not significantly predict physical aggression on the BPAQ ( $\beta$  = -.10, t(135) = -1.09, p = .280). Results of these hierarchical regression models are presented in Tables 4 and 5.

Table 4

Hierarchical Regression of Subtypes Predicting Aggression on the SRASBM

	Relation	onal Ag	gression	SRASI	3M	Physic	cal Agg	ression Sl	RASBI	M
Variable	В	SE β	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE β	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$
Step 1				.278	.30				.28	.30
Depression	0.21	0.12	0.16			0.12	0.12	.089**		
Anger	0.22	0.08	.24**			0.25	0.08	.28**		
Anxiety	0.43	0.16	.27**			0.47	0.16	0.30		
Sex	0.13	0.13	0.07			-0.16	0.13	-0.09		
Age	0.01	0.01	0.07			0.00	0.01	0.02		
Step 2				.307	.04				.341	.07
Depression	0.15	0.13	0.11			0.04	0.12	0.03		
Anger	0.20	0.08	.21*			0.22	0.08	.24**		
Anxiety	0.47	0.16	.30**			0.53	0.16	.34**		
Sex	0.07	0.13	0.04			-0.24	0.13	-0.13		
Age	0.01	0.01	0.06			0.00	0.01	0.01		
Reflection	-0.31	0.14	25*			-0.43	0.13	35**		
Brooding	0.41	0.15	.30**			0.55	0.15	.41**		

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .001.

Table 5

Hierarchical Regression of Subtypes Predicting Aggression on the BPAQ

	Verba	l Aggre	ession BP	AQ		Physic	al Agg	ression B	PAQ	
Variable	В	SE β	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$
Stan 1				.392	41		Р		40	.51
Step 1				.392	.41				.49	.31
Depression	0.03	0.12	0.02			0.06	0.09	0.05		
Anger	0.63	0.08	.63**			0.51	0.06	.62**		
Anxiety	-0.19	0.16	-0.11			0.14	0.12	0.10		
Sex	-0.40	0.13	21**			-0.29	0.10	19**		

Table 6 (continued).

Age Step 2	-0.03	0.01	142*	.408	.02	0.00	0.01	-0.01	.487	.004
Depression	0.01	0.13	0.01			0.05	0.10	0.04		
Anger	0.58	0.08	.58**			0.52	0.06	.63**		
Anxiety	-0.29	0.16	-0.17			0.17	0.12	0.12		
Sex	-0.35	0.13	18**			-0.31	0.10	20**		
Age	-0.02	0.01	-0.13			0.00	0.01	-0.02		
Reflection	0.30	0.14	.23*			-0.11	0.10	-0.10		
Brooding	-0.09	0.15	-0.06			0.09	0.12	0.08		

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .001.

# Simple Moderation Models

To test the hypothesis that sex moderates the relationships between brooding and two different forms of aggression (relational and physical aggression), the SPSS PROCESS macro (v. 3.5) software package using Model 1 was used (Hayes, 2017). Age, depression, anxiety, reflection, and anger were all entered as covariates, sex was entered as a moderator, brooding was entered as a predictor variable, and physical aggression on the SRASBM and BPAQ and relational aggression on the SBRASBM were entered as dependent variables in three separate models. All variables were centered before they were entered into the models. Results revealed that the overall models were significant (physical aggression on SRASBM: F(8,136) = 10.27, p < .001,  $R^2 = .38$ ; relational aggression on SBRASBM: F(8,136) = 8.80, p < .001,  $R^2 = .34$ ; and physical aggression on BPAQ: F(8,134) = 17.80, p < .001,  $R^2 = .52$ ). However, the interaction term comprised of brooding and sex did not significantly predict physical aggression on the SRASBM, F(1,136) = 0.71, p = .401,  $\Delta R^2 = .0033$ ), relational aggression on the

SRASBM, F(1,136) = 0.08, p = .776,  $\Delta R^2 = .0004$ , and physical aggression on the BPAQ, F(1,134) = .70, p = .4062,  $\Delta R^2 = .0025$ ).

Table 6
Simple Moderation Effects Outcome

	Moderator	В	SE(B)	df	F	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$
Relational	Sex						
Aggression							
(SRASBM)				8	8.80**	.34	
Brooding		.37	.22				
Sex		.07	.13				
Brooding*Sex		.06	.23		.08		.0004
Physical	Sex						
Aggression							
(SRASBM)				8	10.27**	.38	
Brooding		.43	.21				
Sex		23	.12				
					.71		.0033
Brooding*Sex		.18	.22				
Physical	Sex						
Aggression							
(BPAQ)				8	17.80**	.52	
Brooding		0025*	.16				
Sex		31**	.10				
					.70		.0025
Brooding*Sex		.14	.17				

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .001.

#### CHAPTER IV – DISCUSSION

This study aimed to build on past research that has established rumination to sadness as a multifaceted construct consisting of two subtypes (brooding and reflection) that are differentially associated with depression-related outcomes. The goals of this study included evaluating whether this conceptualization of rumination to sadness could be applied to anger rumination and if these two subtypes had different patterns of associations with multiple forms of aggression, particularly if brooding increased the risk and reflection decreased the risk of this maladaptive outcome. Finally, this study aimed to examine the moderating effect of sex on the relationship between brooding and two different forms of aggression. A more in-depth understanding of anger rumination will inform treatments regarding what emotion regulation strategies to promote and what to avoid when coping with strong emotions that increase the risk of aggression. It also allows for future studies to have greater specificity in predicting aggression over time by disentangling how these subtypes may mitigate or worsen aggression in the short-term and long-term.

Following the methods employed in prior studies aiming to evaluate the multifaceted nature of rumination to sadness (e.g., Lopez et al., 2009), we found evidence that anger rumination may indeed have distinct subtypes (i.e., brooding and reflection) given the two-factor model of anger rumination significantly outperformed a one-factor model of anger rumination. However, it should be noted that both models fit our data well, which is undoubtedly a reflection of the strong psychometric properties of the Anger Rumination Scale (ARS) and previous research has found that the ARS is indeed

comprised of multiple factors (Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001). Interestingly, the majority of the items comprising our brooding scale corresponded to the Angry Memories and Thoughts of Revenge subscales of the ARS and the majority of items comprising our reflection scale corresponded to the Understanding of Causes subscale. Interestingly, Sukhodolsky and colleagues (2001) theorized that brooding items may be more likely to be found on the Angry Afterthoughts subscale of the ARS given its strong association with anger duration and these brooding items may be more predictive of aggression. Although only one item of the Angry Afterthoughts subscale was categorized as brooding by our independent raters, the remaining items do tap this concept of getting even for past injustices and perseverating on events that happened a long time ago.

Additionally, the notion that rumination to sadness may comprise two distinct subtypes is further supported by findings that these subtypes are differentially associated with depression (Treynor et al., 2003; Burwell & Shirk, 2007; Lopez er al., 2009). The reflection subtype has been hypothesized to serve a protective function given its characterization as neutrally introspective and its association with adaptive coping strategies such as effective problem-solving (Treynor et., al 2003; Burwell & Shirk, 2007). In contrast, the brooding subtype has been hypothesized to increase the risk for depression given its perseveration on past failures and its association with maladaptive coping strategies such as voluntary disengagement or avoidance (Treynor, et al., 2003; Burwell & Shirk, 2007). Indeed, the results of this study are consistent with past studies linking brooding with the development and maintenance of depression symptoms over time and reflection with increasing the risk of depression in the short-term and decreasing

the risk of depression in the long-term (e.g., Treynor, et al., 2003). Specifically, this study found that brooding was positively predictive, and reflection was negatively predictive of relational aggression and physical aggression on the SRASBM. Surprisingly, reflection was also positively predictive of verbal aggression on the BPAQ. Given this finding, it is possible that reflection is only protective of more serious forms of aggression and not less serious forms of aggression. Further, it suggests reflection may lead to the solving of angering events through verbal conflict, which could subsequently lessen the risk of reacting to these angering events through physical altercations or plotting revenge by damaging the social relationships of others.

Contrary to our hypothesis, brooding was not found to be associated with either aggression scale on the BPAQ. This finding was especially surprising since brooding was predictive of physical aggression as measured by the SRASBM. Perhaps this pattern of results has something to do with the item content of these two measures. For example, the physical aggression subscale on the BPAQ contains more items that appear to capture reactive forms of aggression (e.g., "If I have to resort to violence to protect my rights, I will"; "If somebody hits me, I hit back"); behaviors that may better be explained or predicted by impulsivity or an ego threat rather than brooding. In contrast, the items comprising the physical aggression subscale on the SRASBM tend to insinuate a more proactive form of responding where brooding may involve establishing a plan for retribution if unfair treatment has been perceived. It does not appear that the differences in findings across these two measures of aggression are indicative of how the participants in our sample differentially responded to the items on these two measures given the

significant correlation found between the two physical aggression subscales (albeit the magnitude of the correlation was smaller than expected). Further, the means for the physical aggression subscales in our sample (physical aggression on SRASBM: M = 9.52 SD = 5.88; physical aggression on BPAQ: M = 2.18 SD = .73) are comparable to the means found for these subscales in other studies using samples of undergraduate students (physical aggression on SRASBM: M = 4.74-5.56 SD = 2.39-3.27; physical aggression on BPAQ: M = 2.17-2.70 SD = .85-1.22; Bailey & Ostrov, 2008; Webster, et al., 2013).

Finally, it was hypothesized that sex would moderate the relationship between brooding and two different forms of aggression such that associations between brooding and relational aggression would be stronger for women and associations between brooding and physical aggression would be stronger for men. These predictions were made based on findings from the sadness rumination research literature. Specifically, past studies have shown that women tend to engage in more sadness rumination compared to men (Broderick & Korteland, 2002; Nolen-Hoeksema & Jackson, 2001) and rumination in women is associated with longer and more severe depressed moods (Allgood-Merten, Lewinsohn, & Hops, 1990; Nolen-Hoeksema 1995). Furthermore, brooding explains the sex differences found in depression (Allgood-Merten, Lewinsohn, & Hops, 1990; Nolen-Hoeksema 1995). In contrast, men and women have been found to engage in similar levels of anger rumination (Maxwell, 2004; Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001, Peled & Moretti, 2010). However, men tend to have higher scores on the Thoughts of Revenge subscale of the ARS as compared to women (Sukhodolsky et al., 2001) and anger rumination is more strongly correlated with relational aggression than physical aggression in women (Peled,

2006). Sex differences are also evident for physical aggression but not relational aggression in emerging adulthood (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008). Contrary to these findings and our predictions, no evidence was found for the moderating effects of sex for brooding and its association with physical and relational aggression. It is important to note that most studies support the notion that there are no sex differences for anger rumination (Maxwell, 2004; Sukhodolsky, et al., 2001) However, since men are more likely to display physical forms of aggression in emerging adulthood (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008) and certain subscales of the ARS have shown higher scores for men versus women (Sukadolsky et al., 2001), it would be interesting if future studies examined whether certain ruminatory thoughts capturing brooding are more specific to men as opposed to women, which could potentially explain this sex difference in physical aggression.

## **Clinical Implications**

The results of this study potentially have important clinical implications.

Specifically, the refinement of the construct of anger rumination provides greater direction and specificity in the development of effective interventions for anger and aggression where brooding could be specifically targeted. Additionally, a more refined assessment of anger rumination could be incorporated into screenings for services to help evaluate who might likely benefit from these interventions.

The conceptualization of anger rumination as comprising two subtypes has important implications for interventions designed to target rumination to prevent or treat the emergence of psychological disorders. Indeed, Rumination Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (RFCBT) is an evidenced-based treatment for depression and anxiety

and its primary goal is for clients to unlearn the reinforcing nature of unhelpful ruminatory thoughts and to replace these thoughts with more effective thinking and behavioral strategies (Watkins, 2018). Further, there is theoretical and empirical support that this intervention could be applied using a transdiagnostic approach to treat different disorders like social anxiety, PTSD, and substance use; and to reduce feelings of hostility and anger (Watkins, 2018). Although RFCBT does not specify that there are two subtypes of rumination (brooding and reflection), it does recognize that rumination may be maladaptive or adaptive. Thus, the growing body of evidence that suggests there are two subtypes of rumination may lead to more specificity by clearly defining what ruminatory thoughts are helpful versus unhelpful in the context of RFCBT.

Additionally, our study's findings could provide more insight as to why mindfulness may be effective in reducing rumination in response to negative moods. Prior studies have suggested that mindfulness may reduce ruminatory thought in response to anger and sadness, which in turn lessens the severity of depression symptoms and the occurrence of aggressive behaviors (Hofmann et al., 2010; Keng et al., 2011). These findings are expected given that mindfulness emphasizes the present moment, so the focus is shifted away from past events and rumination is the act of perseverating on past events that are distressing or did not go as planned (Donaldson et al. 2007; Alleva et al., 2014), thus the practice of mindfulness, if done well, is incompatible with rumination. Given that rumination has been found to mediate the impact mindfulness has on depression and aggression (Parmentier et al., 2019; Eisenlohr-Moul et al., 2016), it would be worthwhile for future research to examine if the subtypes of anger rumination may

help further elucidate the positive impact mindfulness has on aggression-related outcomes. Additionally, our findings what specific ruminatory thoughts should be avoided or actively ignored when practicing mindfulness.

#### Limitations and Future Directions

Importantly, this study is the only known study to provide initial evidence that anger rumination is comprised of two subtypes that may serve to either increase or decrease the risk of physical and relational aggression following an angering event. However, the results of this study should be considered while also recognizing the limitations of our study's design and what additional work should be done. First, this study relied on self-report measures to capture our variables of interest so it is possible that some participants underreported their engagement in behaviors that might be considered unfavorable or stigmatizing (e.g., aggression). However, this might be less of a concern given that online data provides participants a sense of anonymity. Additionally, reliance on a single method of data capture is likely to inflate our estimates of the relationships between our study variables (Podsakoff & Organ, 1986). Thus, future studies should consider the use of multi-method and multi-informant procedures to supplement the use of self-report data. For example, using methods like anger mood induction and randomizing participants to brooding or reflection conditions prior to giving them an opportunity to act aggressively towards a confederate could help determine the casual relationship between brooding and aggression. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) methods could also be employed which would address the limitations of retrospective reporting (Shiffman et al., 2008).

Another potential limitation of this study was its reliance on a sample of undergraduate students from one university that enrolled in at least one psychology course, which also resulted in an overrepresentation of women in our sample. However, it is important to note that although our recruitment strategy focused on students enrolled in a psychology course, our sample was representative of the entire student body at the university where this study took place. Additionally, by using an undergraduate sample, we can be more confident that the self-report measures used in this study did a decent job of capturing our constructs of interest given there is good evidence of validity and reliability for these measures in this population. Considering the use of an undergraduate sample limits generalizability, these results should be replicated in studies using samples that have greater equivalency of men and women and it would be worthwhile to examine these hypotheses in clinical populations as well as in samples comprising participants from different developmental stages. This approach would allow for potentially elucidating why sex differences in aggression change across development and understanding the contributory role of brooding in the maintenance of aggression in youths and adults with psychological disorders.

Another potential limitation of this study is the nature of the items on the Anger Rumination Scale. While categorizing items on the ARS as brooding and reflection, there was less instances of 100% agreement among independent raters for those items categorized as reflection than those items categorized as brooding. Additionally, there were a greater number of items that independent raters considered to be brooding compared to reflection (brooding items meeting 80% agreement across raters were

excluded so there were an equivalent number of brooding and reflection items on our scales). This suggests that the psychological construct captured by the ARS is more aligned with brooding than reflection. It would be interesting if future studies compared the associations of aggression with subscales comprising items of rumination from other measures (CERQ) that better captured the definition of reflection (re-written to be specific to anger rumination versus general rumination) and subscales comprising items on the ARS that were unanimously rated as brooding across all independent raters.

Finally, it is notable that the majority of the items comprising our brooding scale corresponded to the Angry Memories and Thoughts of Revenge subscales of the ARS and the majority of items comprising our reflection scale corresponded to the Understanding of Causes subscale of the ARS. Given that the four-factor structure of the ARS is widely supported (e.g., Sukhodolsky et. al., 2001; Maxell, 2004), it would be worthwhile to examine which four subscales (i.e., Angry Afterthoughts, Thoughts of Revenge, Angry Memories, and Understanding Causes) have better predictive utility of aggressive behaviors and if they outperform our brooding scale.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, this study was the first to evaluate the existence of two subtypes of rumination (brooding and reflection) in anger rumination. These results offer support for brooding and reflection subtypes of anger rumination. Additionally, the findings suggest that brooding may be more maladaptive than reflection, as it is associated with increases in physical and relational aggression. Finally, sex was not found to moderate the relationships between brooding and relational and physical aggression. Importantly, the

conceptualization of anger rumination as two subtypes (brooding and reflection) could lead to better specificity in determining who is at more risk for aggressive behavior and greater specificity in matching clients to treatment.

#### Directions: This questionnaire is designed to measure qualities of adult social interaction and close relationships. Please read each statement and indicate how true each is for you, now and during the last year, using the scale below. Select the appropriate number on the scale from 1 to 7. IMPORTANT. Remember that your answers to these questions are completely anonymous, so please answer them as honestly as possible! 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Not at All True Sometimes True Very True 1) I usually follow through with my commitments. 3 6 Not at All True Very True Sometimes True 2) I have threatened to break up with my romantic partner in order to get him/her to do what I wanted. 7 2 3 5 6 **Sometimes True** Very True Not at All True 3) My romantic partner tries to make me feel jealous as a way of getting back at me. 3 6 Not at All True Sometimes True Very True 4) It bothers me if my romantic partner wants to spend time with his/her other friends. 3 7 6 Not at All True Sometimes True Very True 5) I try to get my own way by physically intimidating others. 2 3 5 6 7 Not at All True Very True Sometimes True 6) I have a friend who ignores me or gives me the "cold shoulder" when s/he is angry with me.

APPENDIX A – The Self-Report of Aggression & Social Behavior Measure

Sometimes True

5

6

Very True

3

Not at All True

7)	I am willi it.	ng to le	end money	to other people if	they ha	ve a goo	d reason for needing
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at Al	l True		Sometimes True			Very True
8)	When my our friend		tic partner i	is mad at me, s/he	won't i	nvite me	e to do things with
	1 Not at Al	2 l True	3	4 Sometimes True	5	6	7 Very True
9)	My friend to do.	ls know	that I will	think less of them	if they	do not o	do what I want them
	1 Not at Al	2 l True	3	4 Sometimes True	5	6	7 Very True
10)	I get jeald I am busy		ne of my fri	ends spends time	with his	s/her oth	ner friends even when
	1 Not at Al	2	3	4 Sometimes True	5	6	7 Very True
11)			nvited to do	something with a tivities.	a group	of peopl	e, I will exclude
	1 Not at All	2	3	4 Sometimes True	5	6	7 Very True
12)	I have bee	en push	ed or shove	ed by people wher	n they a	re mad a	t me.
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at Al	l True		Sometimes True			Very True
13)			d to other po				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at Al	l True		Sometimes True			Very True
14)	I am usua	-	ing to help		_		_
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All	l True		Sometimes True			Very True
15)			nething froi what I want		e, I act "	cold" or	indifferent towards
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at Al	l True		Sometimes True			Very True

16	6) I would rather s	pend time a	lone with a friend	than be	with ot	her friends too.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
17	7) A friend of min me with other p	_	'behind my back"	and sha	red priv	ate information about
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
18	3) My romantic pa wants.	rtner has pu	ished or shoved m	e in ord	er to get	me to do what s/he
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
19	) I try to make su	re that other	r people get invited	d to par	ticipate i	in group activities.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
20			partner jealous wh	en I am	mad at	him/her.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
21			eally angry, I pusl	n or sho	ve the p	
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
22			d wants to be close			
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
23		ion by gossi	or jealous of som iping about him/he to other people.			~
		S	-	5	U	
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
24			hing that makes m stupid in front of h		-	embarrass that
	person of make 1 2	3	4	5 5	6	7

Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
25) I am willing to g				it.	
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
					order to control me.
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
27) When I have bee					<del>-</del>
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
28) When I am mad activities (going	-	~	e s/he is	exclude	ed from group
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
29) I have a friend v intimidation.	who tries to	get his/her own w	ay with	me thro	ugh physical
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
30) I get jealous if n of just being alo			ne with	her/his	other friends, instead
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
31) I make an effort	to include	other people in my	conve	rsations.	
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
32) When I have been retaliated by three	•	d by something a p			or done, I have
1 2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
33) My romantic pa what s/he wants		reatened to break	up with	me in o	rder to get me to do
1 2	3	4	5	6	7

43)	I am usually will	ling to lend	my belongings (c	ar, cloth	nes, etc.)	to other people.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
44)	I have threatened	d to physica	ally harm other peo	ople in	order to	control them.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
45)			a person just to be	e mean.		
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
	When a friend of her/him and been			ther peo	ple have	e "taken sides" with
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
	I would rather sp friends too.	end time a	lone with my roma	antic pa	rtner and	d not with other
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
48)	I have a friend wown way.	ho has thre	eatened to physical	lly harn	n me in o	order to get his/her
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
49)	I am a good liste	ner when s	omeone has a prol	blem to	deal wit	h.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
50)						t influencing people.
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True
51)	My romantic parintimidation.	tner has tri	ed to get his/her o	wn way	through	n physical
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at All True		Sometimes True			Very True

52) I give m some wa	•	tic partner t	the silent treatmen	it when	s/he hur	ts my feelings in
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True
53) When so	omeone l	nurts my fe	elings, I intentiona	ally ign	ore them	ı <b>.</b>
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True
54) I try to h	elp othe	rs out wher	they need it.			
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True
55) If my rothim/her.	-	artner mak	es me mad, I will	flirt wit	th anothe	er person in front of
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True
56) I have in	itentiona	lly ignored	a person until the	y gave	me my w	way about something
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True
57) I have p	ushed an	d shoved o	thers around in or	der to g	et things	s that I want.
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at A	ll True		Sometimes True			Very True

# APPENDIX B – Anger Rumination Scale

Directions: Everyone gets angry and frustrated occasionally but people differ in the ways that they think about their episodes of anger. Statements below describe different ways that people may be recalling or thinking about their anger experiences. Please, read each statement and then respond by circling the appropriate number for each statement. There are no right or wrong answers in this questionnaire, and your honest responses that best describe yourself are very important. Please, respond to all items.

- I ruminate about my past anger experiences.
   Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 2) I ponder about the injustices that have been done to me. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 3) I keep thinking about events that angered me for a long time. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 4) I have long living fantasies of revenge after the conflict is over.1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 5) I think about certain events from a long time ago and they still make me angry. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 6) I have difficulty forgiving people who have hurt me.1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 7) After an argument is over, I keep fighting with this person in my imagination. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 8) Memories of being aggravated pop into my mind before I fall asleep. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 9) Whenever I experience anger, I keep thinking about it for a while. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always
- 10) I have times when I cannot stop being preoccupied with a particular conflict. 1 - Almost never 2 - Sometimes 3 - Often 4 - Almost always

- 11) I analyze events that make me angry.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 12) I think about the reasons people treat me badly.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 13) I have daydreams and fantasies of violent nature.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 14) I feel angry about certain things in my life.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 15) When someone makes me angry, I can't stop thinking about how to get back at this person.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 16) When someone provokes me, I keep wondering why this should have happened to me.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 17) Memories of even minor annoyances bother me for a while.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 18) When something makes me angry, I turn this matter over and over again in my mind.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always
- 19) I re-enact the anger episode in my mind after it has happened.
  - 1 Almost never 2 Sometimes 3 Often 4 Almost always

# APPENDIX C – Buss Perry Aggression Questionnaire

Directions: Using the 5 point scale shown below, indicate how uncharacteristic or characteristic each of the following statements is in describing you. Place your rating in the box to the right of the statement.

- 1= extremely uncharacteristic of me
- 2= somewhat uncharacteristic of me
- 3= neither uncharacteristic nor characteristic of me
- 4= somewhat characteristic of me
- 5= extremely characteristic of me
  - 1) Some of my friends think I am a hothead
  - 2) If I have to resort to violence to protect my rights, I will.
  - 3) When people are especially nice to me, I wonder what they want.
  - 4) I tell my friends openly when I disagree with them.
  - 5) I have become so mad that I have broken things.
  - 6) I can't help getting into arguments when people disagree with me.
  - 7) I wonder why sometimes I feel so bitter about things.
  - 8) Once in a while, I can't control the urge to strike another person.
  - 9) I am an even-tempered person.
  - 10) I am suspicious of overly friendly strangers.
  - 11) I have threatened people I know.
  - 12) I flare up quickly but get over it quickly.
  - 13) Given enough provocation, I may hit another person.
  - 14) When people annoy me, I may tell them what I think of them.
  - 15) I am sometimes eaten up with jealousy.
  - 16) I can think of no good reason for ever hitting a person.

- 17) At times I feel I have gotten a raw deal out of life.
- 18) I have trouble controlling my temper.
- 19) When frustrated, I let my irritation show.
- 20) I sometimes feel that people are laughing at me behind my back.
- 21) I often find myself disagreeing with people.
- 22) If somebody hits me, I hit back.
- 23) I sometimes feel like a powder keg ready to explode.
- 24) Other people always seem to get the breaks.
- 25) There are people who pushed me so far that we came to blows.
- 26) I know that "friends" talk about me behind my back.
- 27) My friends say that I'm somewhat argumentative.
- 28) Sometimes I fly off the handle for no good reason.
- 29) I get into fights a little more than the average person.

### APPENDIX D – Depression Anxiety Stress Scale

Please read each statement and select a number 0, 1, 2, or 3 that indicates how much the statement applied to you over the past week. There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any statement.

The rating scale is as follows: 0 Did not apply to me at all 1 Applied to me to some degree, or some of the time 2 Applied to me to a considerable degree, or a good part of the time 3 Applied to me very much, or most of the time

- 1) I found it hard to wind down.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 2) I was aware of the dryness in my mouth.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 3) I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 4) I experienced breathing difficulty (e.g., excessively rapid breathing, breathlessness in the absence of physical exertion).
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 5) I found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 6) I tended to over-react to situations.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 7) I experienced trembling (e.g., in the hands).
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 8) I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 9) I was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 10) I felt that I had nothing to look forward to.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time

- 11) I found myself getting agitated.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 12) I found it difficult to relax.
- 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time 13) I felt down-hearted and blue.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 14) I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 15) I felt I was close to panic.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 16) I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 17) I felt I wasn't worth much as a person.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 18) I felt that I was rather touchy.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 19) I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion (e.g., sense of heart rate increase, heart missing a beat).
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 20) I felt scared without any good reason.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time
- 21) I felt that life was meaningless.
  - 0 Not at all 1 Some of the time 2 Good part of the time 3 Most of the time

# APPENDIX E –Demographic Questionnaire

Student ID Please enter your	r USM student ID without the w (e.g., 555555).
2) What is your age?	
3) What is your sex?	
O Male	
○ Female	
4) What is your race?	
O White/Caucasian	
O Black/African America	าก
O Asian	
O Biracial	
Other	

5) What is your ethnicity?
○ Hispanic
O Non-Hispanic
6) What is your classification?
○ Freshman
○ Sophomore
○ Junior
Senior
7) Have you ever been diagnosed with a mental illness (e.g., depression, anxiety, ADHD)?
ADHD)?
ADHD)?  O Yes
ADHD)?  O Yes
ADHD)?  Yes  No  No  Do you take any prescription medications for a mental illness (e.g., stimulant,
ADHD)?  Yes  No  No  Do you take any prescription medications for a mental illness (e.g., stimulant, antidepressant)?

	you ever been diagnosed with a neurological condition (e.g., res/epilepsy, cerebral palsy, brain tumor)?
O Yes	
○ No	
10) Have	you ever had a head injury with loss of consciousness?
O Yes	
○ No	
	or electrodes for EEG recording must be able to reach the scalp, so we ask ou describe your hairstyle. Please select all that apply.
	Short
	Medium
	Long
	Dreadlocks
	Cornrows
	Braids
	Afro
	Bald
	Shaved

12) Describe your hair texture:
○ Fine
○ Thick
○ Coarse
13) How many alcoholic beverages do you consume on average per day?
O None
O 1-2
O 3-4
○ 5 or more
14) How many cigarettes do you smoke on average per day?
O 1-3
O 4-7
○ 7-9
O 10 or more

#### REFERENCES

- Abela, J. R., Brozina, K., & Haigh, E. P. (2002). An examination of the response styles theory of depression in third-and seventh-grade children: A short-term longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *30*(5), 515-527. doi:10.1023/a:1019873015594
- Alleva, J., Roelofs, J., Voncken, M., Meevissen, Y., & Alberts, H. (2012). On the Relation Between Mindfulness and Depressive Symptoms: Rumination as a Possible Mediator. *Mindfulness*, 5(1), 72–79. doi:10.1007/s12671-012-0153-y
- Allgood-Merten, B., Lewinsohn, P. M., & Hops, H. (1990). Sex differences and adolescent depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *99*(1), 55-63.
- Anestis, M. D., Anestis, J. C., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E. (2009). Anger rumination across forms of aggression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 46(2), 192-196. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2008.09.026
- Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén
- Bailey, C. A., & Ostrov, J. M. (2008). Differentiating forms and functions of aggression in emerging adults: Associations with hostile attribution biases and normative beliefs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *37*(6), 713-722.
- Barber, L., Maltby, J., & Macaskill, A. (2005). Angry memories and thoughts of revenge:

  The relationship between forgiveness and anger rumination. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 39(2), 253-262. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.01.006

- Beasley, T. M., Erickson, S., & Allison, D. B. (2009). Rank-Based Inverse Normal Transformations are Increasingly Used, But are They Merited? *Behavior Genetics*, 39(5), 580–595. doi:10.1007/s10519-009-9281-0
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychological Bulletin*, *107*(2), 238-246. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Borders, A., & Lu, S. E. (2017). The bidirectional associations between state anger and rumination and the role of trait mindfulness. *Aggressive Behavior*, 43(4), 342-351. doi:10.1002/ab.21693
- Borders, A., Earleywine, M., & Jajodia, A. (2010). Could mindfulness decrease anger, hostility, and aggression by decreasing rumination?. *Aggressive Behavior:*Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression, 36(1), 28-44. doi:10.1002/ab.20327
- Borders, A., Earleywine, M., & Jajodia, A. (2010). Could mindfulness decrease anger, hostility, and aggression by decreasing rumination? *Aggressive Behavior*, *36*(1), 28–44. doi:10.1002/ab.20327
- Broderick, P. C., & Korteland, C. (2002). Coping style and depression in early adolescence: Relationships to gender, gender role, and implicit beliefs. *Sex Roles*, 46(7-8), 201-213. doi:10.1023/a:1019946714220
- Bryant, F. B., & Smith, B. D. (2001). Refining the Architecture of Aggression: A

  Measurement Model for the Buss–Perry Aggression Questionnaire. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 35(2), 138–167. doi:10.1006/jrpe.2000.2302

- Burton, L. A., Hafetz, J., & Henninger, D. (2007). Gender differences in relational and physical aggression. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, *35*(1), 41-50. doi:10.2224/sbp.2007.35.1.41
- Burwell, R. A., & Shirk, S. R. (2007). Subtypes of rumination in adolescence:

  Associations between brooding, reflection, depressive symptoms, and coping. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *36*(1), 56-65. doi:10.1080/15374410709336568
- Bushman, B. J. (2002). Does venting anger feed or extinguish the flame? Catharsis, rumination, distraction, anger, and aggressive responding. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(6), 724-731. doi:10.1177/0146167202289002
- Bushman, B. J., Bonacci, A. M., Pedersen, W. C., Vasquez, E. A., & Miller, N. (2005). Chewing on it can chew you up: effects of rumination on triggered displaced aggression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(6), 969-983.
- Buss, A. H. & Perry, M. (1992). The Aggression Questionnaire. *Journal Of Personality*And Social Psychology, 63(3), 452-45
- change in mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression: Preliminary evidence from a
- Cheung, M. P., Gilbert, P., & Irons, C. (2004). An exploration of shame, social rank and rumination in relation to depression. *Personality and Individual*differences, 36(5), 1143-1153. doi:10.1016/s0191-8869(03)00206-x

- Ciarocco, N. J., Vohs, K. D., & Baumeister, R. F. (2010). Some good news about rumination: Task-focused thinking after failure facilitates performance improvement. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 29(10), 1057-1073. doi:10.1521/jscp.2010.29.10.1057
- Clifford, M. E. (2017). Beyond Behavior: An Examination of the Associations Between Social Cognition, Aggression, and Friendship Quality. (Doctoral dissertation, Duke University).
- Collins, K., & Bell, R. (1997). Personality and aggression: The dissipation-rumination scale. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 22(5), 751-755. doi:10.1016/s0191-8869(96)00248-6
- Dimitrov, D. M. (2012). Statistical Methods for Validation of Assessment Scale Data in Counseling and Related Fields. Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association

doi:10.1521/ijct.2010.3.4.402

- Eisenlohr-Moul, T. A., Peters, J. R., Pond, R. S., Jr, & DeWall, C. N. (2016). Both trait and state mindfulness predict lower aggressiveness via anger rumination: A multilevel mediation analysis. *Mindfulness*, 7(3), 713–726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0508-x
- Flynn, M., Kecmanovic, J., & Alloy, L. B. (2010). An examination of integrated cognitive-interpersonal vulnerability to depression: The role of rumination,

- perceived social support, and interpersonal stress generation. *Cognitive Therapy* and *Research*, 34(5), 456-466. doi:10.1007/s10608-010-9300-8
- Garnefski, N., Legerstee, J., Kraaij, V., van Den Kommer, T., & Teerds, J. A. N. (2002).

  Cognitive coping strategies and symptoms of depression and anxiety: A

  comparison between adolescents and adults. *Journal of Adolescence*, 25(6), 603-611.. doi:10.1006/jado.2002.0507
- Gilbert, P., Cheung, M., Irons, C., & McEwan, K. (2005). An exploration into depression-focused and anger-focused rumination in relation to depression in a student population. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *33*(3), 273-283.
- Goldstein, S. E., Young, A., & Boyd, C. (2008). Relational aggression at school:

  Associations with school safety and social climate. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 37(6), 641-654. doi:10.1007/s10964-007-9192-4
- Gorsuch, R. (1983). Factor Analysis. Hillsdale, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Hamilton, J. P., Farmer, M., Fogelman, P., & Gotlib, I. H. (2015). Depressive rumination, the default-mode network, and the dark matter of clinical neuroscience. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(4), 224-230. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.020
- Harris, J. A. (1997). A further evaluation of The Aggression Questionnaire: Issues of validity and reliability. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *35*(11), 1047–1053. doi:10.1016/s0005-7967(97)00064-8
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. Guilford publications.

- Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 78(2), 169–183.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018555">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018555</a>
- Keng, S. L., Smoski, M. J., & Robins, C. J. (2011). Effects of mindfulness on psychological health: a review of empirical studies. *Clinical psychology review*, *31*(6), 1041–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.04.006
- Kirkegaard Thomsen, D. (2006). The association between rumination and negative affect:

  A review. *Cognition and Emotion*, 20(8), 1216-1235.

  doi:10.1080/02699930500473533
- Kline, R. B. (1998). *Methodology in the social sciences. Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. Guilford Press.
- Kline, R. B. (2011). *Methodology in the Social Sciences. Principles and practice of structural equation modeling (3rd ed.)*. Guilford Press.
- Krans, J., Moulds, M. L., Grisham, J. R., Lang, & Denson, T. F. (2014). Evaluating the Effects of Meta-Cognitive Beliefs about Angry Rumination on Anger with Cognitive Bias Modification. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, *5*(3), 259-271. doi:10.5127/jep.038613
- Lento-Zwolinski, J. (2007). College students' self-report of psychosocial factors in reactive forms of relational and physical aggression. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 24(3), 407-421. doi:10.1177/0265407507077229

- Li, C. H. (2016). Confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data: Comparing robust maximum likelihood and diagonally weighted least squares. *Behavior research methods*, 48(3), 936-949. doi:10.3758/s13428-015-0619-7
- Li, C. H. (2016). Confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data: Comparing robust maximum likelihood and diagonally weighted least squares. *Behavior research methods*, 48(3), 936-949.
- Linder, J. R., Crick, N. R., & Collins, W. A. (2002). Relational aggression and victimization in young adults' romantic relationships: Associations with perceptions of parent, peer, and romantic relationship quality. *Social Development*, 11(1), 69-86. doi:10.1111/1467-9507.00187
- Lopez, C. M. (2010). Response Styles Theory: Association Between Subtypes of (Doctoral dissertation, Florida State University).
- Lopez, C. M., Driscoll, K. A., & Kistner, J. A. (2009). Sex differences and response styles: Subtypes of rumination and associations with depressive symptoms. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *38*(1), 27-35. doi:10.1080/15374410802575412
- Loudin, J. L., Loukas, A., & Robinson, S. (2003). Relational aggression in college students: Examining the roles of social anxiety and empathy. *Aggressive Behavior: Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression*, 29(5), 430-439. doi:10.1002/ab.10039

- Lovibond, S. H., & Lovibond, P. F. (1996). Manual for the depression anxiety stress scales. *Psychology Foundation of Australia*.
- Lyubomirsky, S., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1995). Effects of self-focused rumination on negative thinking and interpersonal problem solving. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(1), 176-190.
- Lyubomirsky, S., Tucker, K. L., Caldwell, N. D., & Berg, K. (1999). Why ruminators are poor problem solvers: Clues from the phenomenology of dysphoric rumination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(5), 1041-1060.
- MacCallum, R. C., & Austin, J. T. (2000). Applications of structural equation modeling in psychological research. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 51(1), 201-226.doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.201
- Maxwell, J. P. (2004). Anger rumination: An antecedent of athlete aggression? *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *5*(3), 279-289. doi:10.1016/s1469-0292(03)00007-4
- McEvoy, P., & Brans, S. (2013). Common versus unique variance across measures of worry and rumination: predictive utility and mediational models for anxiety and depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 37(1), 132-196. doi.org/10.1007/s10608-012-9448-5.
- McLaughlin, K. A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011). Rumination as a transdiagnostic factor in depression and anxiety. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(3), 186-193. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2010.12.006

- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., & Guarino, A. J. (2013). Applied multivariate research: Design and interpretation (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Michael Conway, Patricia A. R. Csank, Susan L. Holm & Caminee K. Blake (2000) On Assessing Individual Differences in Rumination on Sadness, *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 75(3). doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa7503\_04
- Miller, J.D. & Lynam, D.R. (2003). Psychopathy and the five-factor model of personality: A replication and extension. *Journal of Personality Assessment* ,81(2), 168-178. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa8102\_08
- Morales, J., & Crick, N. (1998). Self-report measure of aggression and victimization.

  Unpublished
- Morrow, J., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1990). Effects of responses to depression on the remediation of depressive affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(3), 519–527. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.58.3.519
- Murray-Close, D., Ostrov, J.M., Nelson, D.A., Crick, N.R., & Coccaro, E.F. (2010).
  Proactive, reactive, and romantic relational aggression in adulthood:
  Measurement, predictive validity, gender differences, and association with intermittent explosive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 44(6), 393-404.
  doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.09.005
- Muthén, L.K. and Muthén, B.O. (1998-2017). Mplus User's Guide. Eighth Edition. Los

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1991). Responses to depression and their effects on the duration of depressive episodes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *100*(4), 569-582. doi:10.1037/0021-843x.100.4.569
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1996). Chewing the cud and other ruminations. In R. S. Wyer (Ed.), *Advances in Social Cognition* (pp. 135–144). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2000). The role of rumination in depressive disorders and mixed anxiety/depressive symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109(3), 504–511. doi:10.1037/0021-843x.109.3.504
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Davis, C. G. (1999). "Thanks for sharing that": Ruminators and their social support networks. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(4), 801–814.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Jackson, B. (2001). Mediators of the gender difference in rumination. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 25(1), 37-47. doi:10.1111/1471-6402.00005
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Morrow, J. (1993). Effects of rumination and distraction on naturally occurring depressed mood. *Cognition & Emotion*, 7(6), 561-570. doi:10.1080/02699939308409206
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Morrow, J., & Fredrickson, B. L. (1993). Response styles and the duration of episodes of depressed mood. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *102*(1), 20-28. doi:10.1037/0021-843x.102.1.20

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B. E., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *3*(5), 400-424. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00088.x
- Opara, J., Iheagwara, A. I., & Okenwe, I. (2016). Comparison of parametric (OLS) and nonparametric (THEIL'S) linear regression. *Advanced Research Journal of Multi-Disciplinary Discoveries*, 2(1), 24-29. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705.
- Oppenheimer, D. M., Meyvis, T., & Davidenko, N. (2009). Instructional manipulation checks: Detecting satisficing to increase statistical power. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4), 867–872. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2009.03.009
- Ostrov, J.M. & Houston, R.J. (2008). The utility of forms and functions of aggression in emerging adulthood: Association with personality disorder symptomatology.

  \*\*Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 37(9), 1147-1158. doi:10.1007/s10964-008-9289-4
- Parmentier, F., García-Toro, M., García-Campayo, J., Yañez, A. M., Andrés, P., & Gili, M. (2019). Mindfulness and Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety in the General Population: The Mediating Roles of Worry, Rumination, Reappraisal and Suppression. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 506.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00506
- Pedersen, W. C., Denson, T. F., Goss, R. J., Vasquez, E. A., Kelley, N. J., & Miller, N. (2011). The impact of rumination on aggressive thoughts, feelings, arousal, and behaviour. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *50*(2), 281-301. doi:10.1348/014466610x515696

- Peled, M. (2006). Rumination on ruminaiton: Anger and sadness rumination in a normative and clinical sample. (master's thesis, Simon Fraser University).
- Peled, M., & Moretti, M. M. (2007). Rumination on anger and sadness in adolescence: Fueling of fury and deepening of despair. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *36*(1), 66-75. doi:10.1080/15374410709336569
- Peled, M., & Moretti, M. M. (2010). Ruminating on rumination: Are rumination on anger and sadness differentially related to aggression and depressed mood?. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 32(1), 108-117. doi:10.1007/s10862-009-9136-2
- Pettersen, C., Nunes, K. L., & Cortoni, F. (2017). The Factor Structure of the Aggression

  Questionnaire With Violent Offenders. *International Journal of Offender Therapy*and Comparative Criminology, 62(7), 1888–1905.

  doi:10.1177/0306624x17691242
- Podsakoff, P. M., & Organ, D. W. 1986. Self-reports in organizational research:

  Problems and prospects. *Journal of Management*, 12 (4), 531–544.
- randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 3(4), 402–418.
- Rigdon, E. E. (1996). CFI versus RMSEA: A comparison of two fit indexes for structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 3(4), 369-379. doi:10.1080/10705519609540052
- Ruble, D. N., Greulich, F., Pomerantz, E. M., & Gochberg, B. (1993). The role of genderrelated processes in the development of sex differences in self-evaluation and

- depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 29(2-3), 97-128. doi:10.1016/0165-0327(93)90027-h
- Rusting, C. L., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1998). Regulating responses to anger: effects of rumination and distraction on angry mood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(3), 790-803. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.74.3.790
- Schad, M. M., Szwedo, D. E., Antonishak, J., Hare, A., & Allen, J. P. (2008). The broader context of relational aggression in adolescent romantic relationships:
  Predictions from peer pressure and links to psychosocial functioning. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 37(3), 346–358. doi:10.1007/s10964-007-9226-y
- Schwartz, J. A., & Koenig, L. J. (1996). Response styles and negative affect among adolescents. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 20(1), 13-36. doi:10.1007/bf02229241
- Schwarz, G. J. A. O. S. (1978). Estimating the Dimension of a Model. *The Annals of statistics*. 6(2), 461--464. doi:10.1214/aos/1176344136.
- Shahar, B., Britton, W. B., Sbarra, D. A., Figueredo, A. J., & Bootzin, R. R. (2010).

  Mechanisms of change in mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression:

  Preliminary evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, *3*(4), 402–418. doi:10.1521/ijct.2010.3.4.402
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., & Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological Momentary Assessment.

  Annual *Review of Clinical Psychology*, *4*(1), 1–

  32. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415

- Siemer, M. (2005). Moods as multiple-object directed and as objectless affective states:

  An examination of the dispositional theory of moods. *Cognition and Emotion*,

  1(6),, 815–845.
- Smith, J. M., & Alloy, L. B. (2009). A roadmap to rumination: A review of the definition, assessment, and conceptualization of this multifaceted construct. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(2), 116-128. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2008.10.003
- Smith, S. D., Stephens, H. F., Repper, K., & Kistner, J. A. (2016). The relationship between anger rumination and aggression in typically developing children and high-risk adolescents. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 38(4), 515-527.
- Spasojević, J., & Alloy, L. B. (2001). Rumination as a common mechanism relating depressive risk factors to depression. *Emotion*, *1*(1), 25–37.
- Steiger, J. H. (1990). Structural model evaluation and modification: An interval estimation approach. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 25(2), 173-180. doi:10.1207/s15327906mbr2502\_4
- Sukhodolsky, D. G., Golub, A., & Cromwell, E. N. (2001). Development and validation of the anger rumination scale. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 31(5), 689-700. doi:10.1016/s0191-8869(00)00171-9
- Surrence, K., Miranda, R., Marroquín, B. M., & Chan, S. (2009). Brooding and reflective rumination among suicide attempters: Cognitive vulnerability to suicidal ideation. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 47(9), 803-808.

- Trapnell, P. D., & Campbell, J. D. (1999). Private self-consciousness and the five-factor model of personality: distinguishing rumination from reflection. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(2), 284-304. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.76.2.284
- Treynor, W., Gonzalez, R., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2003). Rumination reconsidered: A psychometric analysis. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 27(3), 247-259. doi:10.1023/a:1023910315561
- Tucker, L. R., & Lewis, C. (1973). A reliability coefficient for maximum likelihood factor analysis. *Psychometrika*, *38*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1007/bf02291170
- Verona, E. (2005). Moderating effects of rumination and gender on context-specific aggression. Aggressive Behavior: Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression, 31(5), 420-436. .doi:10.1002/ab.20096
- Watkins, E. D. (2004). Adaptive and maladaptive ruminative self-focus during emotional processing. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(9), 1037-1052. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2004.01.009
- Watkins, E. R. (2018). Rumination-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy for depression.

  Guilford Publications.
- Watkins, E. R., Scott, J., Wingrove, J., Rimes, K. A., Bathurst, N., Steiner, H., et al. (2007). Rumination-focused cognitive behaviour therapy for residual depression:

  A case series. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(9), 2144–2154.

  10.1016/j.brat.2006.09.018.

- Webster, G. D., DeWall, C. N., Pond, R. S., Deckman, T., Jonason, P. K., Le, B. M., ...

  Bator, R. J. (2013). The brief aggression questionnaire: psychometric and behavioral evidence for an efficient measure of trait aggression. *Aggressive Behavior*, 40(2), 120–139. doi:10.1002/ab.21507
- Wells, A. & Papageorgiou, C. (2004). Metacognitive therapy for depressive rumination. In Papageorgiou, C. and Wells, A. (Ed.), Depressive rumination: nature, theory and treatment (pp. 259–273). New York: Wiley. doi:10.1002/9780470713853
- White, B. A., & Turner, K. A. (2014). Anger rumination and effortful control: Mediation effects on reactive but not proactive aggression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *56*, 186-189. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2013.08.012
- Woolf, H. B. (Ed.). (1981). Webster's new collegiate dictionary. Springfield, MA: G. & C. Merriam Company.
- Wupperman, P., & Neumann, C. S. (2006). Depressive symptoms as a function of sexrole, rumination, and neuroticism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(2), 189-201.. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.05.017
- Yang, M. J., Kim, B. N., Lee, E. H., Lee, D., Yu, B. H., Jeon, H. J., & Kim, J. H. (2014).
  Diagnostic utility of worry and rumination: A comparison between generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 68(9), 712-720. doi:10.1111/pcn.12193
- Zahn-Waxler, C., Cole, P. M., & Barrett, K. C. (1991). Guilt and empathy: Sex differences and implications for the development of depression. In J. Garber & K.

A. Dodge (Ed.), Cambridge studies in social and emotional development. The development of emotion regulation and dysregulation (pp. 243–272). Cambridge University Press.

Ziegert, D. I., & Kistner, J. A. (2002). Response styles theory: Downward extension to children. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *31*(3), 325-334. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp3103\_04